AGREEMENT

Between the

VANCOUVER HOUSING AUTHORITY

and

OFFICE & PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 11

DURATION:

January 1, 2025

THROUGH

December 31, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE
ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 2. RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT
ARTICLE 3. UNION SECURITY
ARTICLE 4. UNION BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES
ARTICLE 5. STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS
ARTICLE 6. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES
ARTICLE 7. PROBATION4
ARTICLE 8. SENIORITY4
ARTICLE 9. WORKWEEK - HOURS OF WORK4
ARTICLE 10. RATES OF PAY5
ARTICLE 11. PERFORMANCE REVIEW6
ARTICLE 12. CALL-BACK PAY
ARTICLE 13. OVERTIME PAY
ARTICLE 14. WORKING OUT OF CLASS8
ARTICLE 15. POSTING OF JOBS
ARTICLE 16. LAYOFF AND RECALL9
ARTICLE 17. ANNUAL LEAVE10
ARTICLE 18. SICK LEAVE
ARTICLE 19. HOLIDAYS11
APTICLE 20 OTHER LEAVES

ARTICLE 21. EMPLOYEE INSURANCE	14
ARTICLE 22. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	15
ARTICLE 23. RETIREMENT PLAN.	15
ARTICLE 24. DISPUTE RESOLUTION	16
ARTICLE 25. EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION	18
ARTICLE 26. NON-DISCRIMINATION.	19
ARTICLE 27. EMPLOYER'S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK	19
ARTICLE 28. CONTRACTING OUT AND USE OF ALTERNATIV	'E WORKERS19
ARTICLE 29. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE	19
ARTICLE 30. ENTIRE AGREEMENT	19
ARTICLE 31. DURATION OF AGREEMENT	20
APPENDIX: SCHEDULE "A".	21

AGREEMENT BETWEEN VANCOUVER HOUSING AUTHORITY AND THE

OFFICE & PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 11

THIS AGREEMENT effective this the 1st day of January 2025 by and between the VANCOUVER HOUSING AUTHORITY, Vancouver, Washington, its successors and assigns, hereinafter referred to as the "Employer," and the OFFICE & PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 11, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union."

PREAMBLE

WHEREAS the parties hereto desire to cooperate in establishing conditions which will tend to secure to the employees concerned a living wage and fair and reasonable conditions of employment, and to provide methods for fair and peaceful adjustment of all disputes which may arise between them to secure uninterrupted operations of the office involved,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MUTUALLY AGREED to as follows:

ARTICLE 1. RECOGNITION

The Employer agrees to recognize the Union as the sole collective bargaining agent for all employees as specified in Schedule "A" of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2. RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT

Section 1. Except as restricted by this Agreement, the Vancouver Housing Authority retains all rights, powers, and authority to manage its affairs and direct its workforce, including, subject only to the express terms of this Agreement, the right and discretion to determine the number and qualifications of employees; hire, assign, transfer, and promote employees; suspend, demote, discipline, and discharge employees for cause; lay-off or reduce employee's hours for lack of work; determine and change the nature of its operations and the number of locations at which it operates, maintain current or adopt new methods, materials, and processes of work; subcontract operations in whole or in part; and adopt reasonable regulations for the purposes of efficiency and safety.

Section 2. This recitation of management rights is not intended as a waiver of any rights not specifically enumerated, whether or not such rights have been exercised by the Housing Authority in the past.

Section 3. Nothing in this management rights clause should be construed to limit the exercise of employee's grievance rights under Article 24 within this Agreement, regarding the interpretation and applications of the express terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3. UNION SECURITY

Section 1. The terms of this Agreement shall apply to all employees in the bargaining unit, whether or not members of the Union. Bargaining unit employees may elect to join the Union and authorize the Employer to deduct from their pay the full amount of Union membership dues. Such authorization must be delivered to the Vancouver Housing Authority Administrative Services Department in the following form:

I elect to become a member of the Union and authorize the Vancouver Housing Authority to deduct from my pay the full amount of Union membership dues. This authorization shall remain in effect during the term of this Agreement and automatically renew from year to year thereafter unless and until I revoke this authorization by giving the Union and the Employer thirty (30) days' written notice by U.S. First Class Mail.

Section 2. Any bargaining unit employee who does not wish to become a member of the Union, but who wishes to pay their Fair Share, as calculated by the Union, of the cost of the services provided by the Union to bargaining unit employees, including the negotiation of this Agreement and the processing of employee grievances, may authorize the Employer to deduct the Fair Share amount from their pay. Such authorization must be delivered to the Vancouver Housing Authority Administrative Services Department in the following form:

I do not wish to become a member of the Union but authorize the Vancouver Housing Authority to deduct from my pay the Fair Share, as calculated by the Union, of the costs of bargaining unit services provided by the Union. This authorization shall remain in effect during the term of this Agreement and automatically renew from year to year thereafter unless and until I revoke this authorization by giving the Union and the Employer thirty (30) days' written notice by U.S. First Class Mail.

Section 3. The Union shall provide all new employees with dues deduction and assignment forms in their membership packets. The Union shall, upon completion of new employee orientation, provide the Employer with, as appropriate, a copy of the Union dues or Fair Share deduction authorization form, or an opt-out form for employees who elect not to authorize deductions from their pay. The Employer shall, after receipt of the dues or Fair Share authorization forms. deduct each month such amounts from the wages of the authorizing employees and forward the deducted amount to the Union.

Section 4. The Employer shall notify the Union Steward when a bargaining unit position is created, or a vacant position is posted. The Union Representative shall be allowed to meet with all new employees hired into positions covered by this Agreement within thirty-one (31) days of the date of hire, such meeting to take place for not less than thirty (30) minutes and not more than forty-five (45) minutes during the employee's regular work hours.

Section 5. Any dispute regarding the meaning or application of this Article is subject to Article 24 Grievance Procedure within this Agreement.

Section 6. The Union agrees to defend, indemnify, save and hold the Employer harmless from, for and against any and all claims arising as a result of the application of this Article.

ARTICLE 4. UNION BUSINESS REPRESENTATIVES

Section 1: The Representative of the Collective Bargaining Unit (OPEIU) shall have access to the Employer offices during working hours, provided they do not interfere or cause the employees to neglect their work.

ARTICLE 5. STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

Section 1. It shall be the intention of the parties to settle all differences between the Employer and the Union through the grievance procedure in accordance with the provision of this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer agrees that they will not lockout their employees, and the Union agrees that there will not be any strikes, slowdown, or work stoppage during the life of this Agreement.

Section 2. In the event that a strike, slowdown, picketing, boycott, or other interruption of work occurs, during the life of this agreement, the Employer shall notify the Union of the existence of such activity and request information from the Union as to whether or not the activity has been authorized. If the activity has not been authorized, after immediately responding to the Employer's request for information, the Union, will then proceed to make every reasonable effort to terminate the work interruption activity and induce the employees concerned to return to work so that services to the citizens of Clark County will not be affected.

ARTICLE 6. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

Section 1. Temporary employees are individuals who are assigned to perform job duties typically associated with a position covered by Article 1 Recognition within this Agreement for a period of time which is agreed on and specified at the commencement of services and shall not exceed one thousand forty (1040) hours within a twelve (12) month period, but with a six (6) month lag, unless extended by mutual agreement of the Union and the Employer (i.e., once a temporary employee meets the one thousand forty (1040) hour threshold, there must be a six (6) month break prior to that individual being reassigned at the VHA). These employees do not accrue any Annual Leave or any other benefit as outlined under the working conditions of this Agreement except as required by law. The VHA will notify the Union quarterly of the number and identity, date of service and classification of temporary employees, excluding intermittent temporary employees.

Section 2. Term employees are hired for specified periods of time, exceeding six (6) months but generally no longer than thirty-six (36) months, and are eligible for Annual Leave, Sick Leave, and other Employer provided benefits. Term employees within the jurisdiction of the Office & Professional Employees International Union are covered under this agreement but shall not be entitled to bump or displace covered employees if laid off at the conclusion of the initial term. If, however, the term is extended by mutual agreement for more than six (6) months beyond the initial specified period, term employees shall have bumping rights based upon seniority, retro-active to

the first day of the initial term.

ARTICLE 7. PROBATION

Newly hired employees are subject to a six (6) month probation period. While in the probation period, the rules and regulations of the Employer will prevail (see Employer's Employee Handbook, Initial Evaluation Period Section). The Employer may discharge any newly hired employee at any time during the probationary period with or without cause. Such discharge shall not be subject to the dispute resolution process in Article 24 to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8. SENIORITY

Section 1. VHA Seniority. VHA seniority is measured from the last date of hire and shall be used for Annual Leave accrual, PERS and as a means to determine the most senior employee in cases where other seniority is equal.

Section 2. Bargaining Unit Seniority. Bargaining unit seniority is measured from the date the employee began working in a position covered by this Collective Bargaining Agreement. Bargaining unit seniority shall be used to determine shift and/or work schedules, filling of vacancies when there are two (2) or more equally qualified internal candidates, and for layoff and bumping.

ARTICLE 9. WORKWEEK - HOURS OF WORK

Section 1. Employer's normal business hours are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00p.m. Monday through Friday unless business necessity mandates a different schedule. The standard workweek for regular full-time employees shall be forty (40) hours and normally worked on five (5) consecutive 8-hour workdays. Monday through Friday. Between the hours of 7:00a.m. and 6:00p.m.

Section 2. Workdays that are more than five (5) hours long must include an unpaid lunch break of not less than thirty (30) minutes between the second (2nd) and fifth (5th) hour of the work shift. Whenever practicable, the lunch period shall be scheduled in the middle of the shift. A break period of fifteen (15) minutes is given for every four hours worked. The break should be scheduled as close to the midpoint of the work period as possible. Mini rest breaks can be taken instead of a scheduled rest break.

Section 3. Alternative work schedules, such as a 9/80 schedule, may be established for certain jobs or individuals to meet long term special business or personal requirements. Either the Employer or the employee may initiate a request for an alternative work schedule. Alternative work schedules must be reviewed and approved annually by the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Executive Officer. The Employer will attempt to meet employee requests for non-standard work schedules, provided that the business needs of the Employer can be met and that an employee does not work more than eighty (80) hours in a two (2) week period. Supervisors will keep all employees informed as to their specific work schedule.

Section 4. Occasional non-standard work weeks may be established for certain jobs or individuals to meet short term special business or personal requirements provided that the business needs of the VHA can be met. Non-standard flexible schedules may occur within a given workday or workweek but in no case shall an employee work more than eighty (80) hours in a two (2) week period as a result of a non-standard flexible schedule. Workweek changes are intended to be infrequent and must be approved by the work Supervisor.

ARTICLE 10. RATES OF PAY

Section 1. The Employer agrees to pay to its current employees, and the Union agrees that its members will accept, the wage scales as set forth in Schedule "A" attached. The wage scales herein established shall not prevent the payment of higher wages by the Employer to any employee whose work may warrant the payment of such higher scale.

Section 2. Market Adjustment. Effective January 1, 2025, employees will receive a market adjustment of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour added to their current wage rate. In the event after the market adjustment an employee's wages fall below the minimum range their wages will be increased to the minimum.

Annual Increases – Effective January 1, 2025, Employees under the maximum salary range will receive an annual increase on their anniversary for each year of this agreement. Employees whose wage has reached the maximum range after ratification or during the term of this Agreement will receive a lump sum payment based on their annual salary for the year reviewed. If the employees wage reaches the maximum salary range and the full increase is not received, the remaining percentage will be paid out in a lump sum payment. The lump sum payment will be paid in a separate check less taxes from payroll.

- A. 2025 Employees will receive a salary increase, lump sum payment, or combination of both in the amount of four percent (4%) on their anniversary date.
- B. 2026 Employees will receive a salary increase, lump sum payment, or combination of both in the amount of five percent (5%) on their anniversary date.
- C. 2027 Employees will receive a salary increase, lump sum payment, or combination of both in the amount of five percent (5%) on their anniversary date.

Employees whose salary reaches the maximum range after ratification or during the term of this Agreement will be placed at the maximum salary range, not to exceed, the maximum salary listed in the Agreement.

Section 3. Paydays shall be at least semi-monthly and in no case shall more than five (5) days' pay be held back.

Section 4. Any position or new hire not currently covered by Schedule "A" to this Agreement, or any positions which may be established during the life of this Agreement, excluding elective,

supervisory and administrative positions, shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. In the event that the parties are unable to agree as to the classification and rate of pay for the job in question, such disputes shall be submitted to Step 2 of the dispute resolution procedure contained within this Agreement.

Section 5. Interpreter Pay – Effective the pay period following the designation of qualified positions, the Employer agrees to provide additional compensation for employees who use a second language during the course of their job responsibilities. Employees who use a second language in conjunction with their normal job duties shall receive an additional pay premium of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per pay period. The Employer reserves the right to determine which employees, based on certification, will be identified as interpreters for the Employer. Fluency determination shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 6. Enhanced differential - A differential in the amount of eighty (\$80.00) dollars per pay period will be paid out when the volume or complexity of an employee's work is above the norm for the position but is not considered working out of class. An employee may volunteer for an assignment that may qualify for an enhanced differential. When an employee's work returns to regular status the enhanced differential will end. The Employees will receive a two week notice of this change. Examples of this may include specialized programs, increased caseloads, or special projects. Enhanced differentials must be approved by the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Executive Officer.

Further, on or before September 2027, the VHA will do a market salary survey of OPEIU positions. The format of the survey and the resulting data will be shared with the union bargaining team and serve as a resource in determining salary range adjustments appropriate in the next negotiated contract. The study will include comparable positions in Oregon and SW Washington, King Co, Tacoma, Bremerton, and Seattle Housing Authorities will also be included.

Section 7. New Hire Increase. All newly hired employees performing at a satisfactory level as indicated on their performance review will receive a two and one-half percent (2.5%) increase after six (6) months in their new position.

Section 8. Promotional Increase. Employees who are promoted to a new pay grade will receive a minimum of five percent (5%) increase or will be placed in the minimum salary range, whatever is greater.

Section 9. Longevity Pay. Longevity pay will be based upon the length of service for each eligible employee upon meeting their tenth (10th) year of service in a bargaining unit position; and every third year after. Each regular full-time or part-time employee who completes this length of service with the Vancouver Housing Authority will receive five hundred dollars (\$500.00) longevity pay on their anniversary date.

ARTICLE 11. PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Section 1. The Employer agrees to conduct performance reviews for regular employees at least annually on June 1 of each year. The performance review is intended to provide employees with

clear expectations and feedback regarding their job performance; discuss goals for job enrichment and skill building; identify areas for performance improvement; and to promote communication between employees, their supervisor, and the Employer.

Section 2. Probationary employees shall receive an informal verbal performance review after three (3) months of employment; and a written performance review after six (6) months of employment. Employees who promote into a new position will receive a performance review after six (6) months in their new position and annually thereafter.

Section 3. The Employer shall provide to employees the Performance Review Employee Self Evaluation form at least one (1) month prior to the employee's actual review and which shall be submitted to the employees Supervisor two (2) weeks prior to their annual review date. Performance reviews shall be completed by the employee's Supervisor within thirty (30) days of the employee's annual review date. Exceptions may be made for delays due to time off, delay of employee self-evaluation completion, and other mitigating circumstances. Performance reviews delayed beyond the sixty (60) days of the annual review date shall be reported to the Union and the Chief Executive Officer. If the employee has transferred from one Supervisor to another within the last six (6) months, the employee's immediate Supervisor and the past immediate Supervisor shall collaborate on the evaluation.

Section 4. Any employee may write a rebuttal to or appeal of their performance review. Performance reviews, including employee comments and reasonable rebuttal materials shall be retained as part of the employee's personnel file. The Employer shall strictly guard the confidentiality of employee's performance evaluation subject to the state and federal public records requirements.

4.1 Employee appeals on performance reviews shall be submitted, reviewed, heard and considered by both the Chief Administrative Officer or their designee and the Union Representative within five (5) days, or as soon as reasonably possible, of receipt of said appeal. The Chief Administrative Officer shall respond to the employee's appeal within ten (10) days of meeting with the employee.

Section 5. Metric Standards. The Employer will develop a metric standard for each bargaining unit position and have it accessible to the Employee. The standards will be reviewed during annual performance reviews with each Employee.

ARTICLE 12. CALL-BACK PAY

Employees who have completed their regular shift and are on their way home, or at home and are required to work other than a continuation of their shift, shall be paid one and one-half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate. Any call-back shall be a minimum of two (2) hours.

ARTICLE 13. OVERTIME PAY

Section 1. The Employer will attempt to meet its overtime requirements on a voluntary basis

among the employees and, in the event, there are insufficient volunteers to meet the requirements, the Employer may require the necessary employees to work.

Section 2. Any employee working outside of his or her assigned shift will be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate for the first eight (8) hours over forty (40) hours in a work week, and thereafter at double (2) time. For the purposes of calculating overtime, the workweek begins at 12:01 a.m. Monday.

Section 3. An employee working a 9x8 alternate workweek schedule shall calculate overtime beginning at 12:00 p.m. Friday: unless mandatory overtime is required.

ARTICLE 14. WORKING OUT OF CLASS

An employee shall be eligible for out of class pay when:

- Assigned to perform the essential duties and responsibilities of a higher-level classification
 which are not within the normal level of the employee's regular job duties or required skills
 and abilities.
- Such assignment is for a period of five (5) or more days,
- Such assignment is not voluntary (i.e., the employee did not ask for the assignment),
- Such assignment is approved in writing by the Chief Executive Officer.

Out of class assignments may be made to a vacant position or one that is temporarily vacant by virtue of the absence of the incumbent due to leave or training, or for special assignment. An employee working out of class will be paid a minimum of five (5%) percent differential for the duration of their out of class assignment excluding Annual Leave and Sick Leave accrual which will be paid at their former position rate.

Out of class assignments do not apply to voluntary training opportunities offered to or requested by employees to enhance skills and increase promotional opportunities.

ARTICLE 15. POSTING OF JOBS.

Section 1. It is the intent of the Employer to fill job vacancies from qualified applicants within the Vancouver Housing Authority before hiring new employees, providing the employees who apply have the required qualifications for the particular job.

Section 2. When a job vacancy occurs, the Employer will post the job electronically for the duration of the job opening, noting the description, salary range, and qualifications.

Section 3. Applications received from all applicants will be measured against the requirements for the job. The Employer intends to hire the best qualified applicant for the job; if two (2) candidates are equally qualified and one (1) is an internal applicant and the other an external applicant, the Employer will hire the internal applicant.

Section 4. Employees selected for new positions will have a ninety (90) day evaluation period. During the first thirty (30) days of this evaluation period if the employee or the hiring Manager determines that the new position is not a good fit for the employee, the employee may return to their previous position or another position of comparable grade, based on the needs of the organization, as determined by management.

Section 5. All employees will be notified by the hiring manager and/or Administrative Services as to the outcome of their job bid.

ARTICLE 16. LAYOFF AND RECALL

Section 1. The Employer may lay off an employee based on the elimination of an employee's position due to lack of work, lack of funds, reorganization, elimination of program to which the employee is assigned, or other similar reasons. In the event that reduction of personnel is necessary, the Employer will notify the Union of any layoffs or elimination of jobs and will meet and confer with the Union, if the Union so requests, prior to implementing the layoff decision.

Section 2. Employees will be provided with two (2) weeks' notice prior to termination due to a reduction in force. Employees who are laid off due to a reduction in force and who do not receive two (2) weeks' notice will be paid for each day in lieu of notice up to a maximum of two (2) weeks.

Section 3. Employees who would otherwise be laid off, may by seniority bump the lowest senior employee within the bargaining unit into any remaining job for which they are qualified, that is at an equal or lower grade than their current position. Assuming that the bidding employee is qualified to do the job, has greater bargaining unit seniority to the incumbent, and is equivalent in job performance (as indicated by performance reviews in current position). Bumped employees shall have the same rights as if they were laid off.

Section 4. Any laid off employee will be placed on a recall list for a period of twelve (12) months. If a position becomes available during the recall period, employees who have been laid off will be rehired in inverse order of layoff (last out, first back), provided that they are qualified to do the job and were meeting the standard of performance in the position they vacated. It is the responsibility of the persons on the recall list to keep the Employer's Administrative Services staff apprised of their current address and telephone number. Any notice of reemployment to an employee who has been laid off will be made by registered mail to the last known address of such laid-off employee. In the event that correspondence from the Employer to the employee is returned unclaimed, the name will be removed from the recall list.

Section 5. Prior to hiring from the outside, employees who have been laid off will be rehired in inverse order of layoff (last out, first back), provided that they are qualified to do the open job and were meeting the standard of performance in the position they vacated, and have higher seniority than any other former employee who may be considered for the job.

Section 6. Employer will continue medical benefits of laid off employees for not less than thirty (30) days following the effective date of layoff.

ARTICLE 17. ANNUAL LEAVE

Section 1. General Provisions: Paid Annual Leave provides compensated time off for the employee to use as they determine best fits their personal needs.

Section 2. Eligibility: All full-time regular employees are eligible for Annual Leave time. Part time regular employees who are regularly scheduled to work more than twenty (20) hours per week are eligible for Annual Leave time.

Section 3. Annual Leave Time begins to accrue on the first day of employment. It may be used as it is earned except during the probationary period. No accrual shall occur during unpaid leave. Annual Leave Time accrual will be based on the number of regular hours worked. Leave cannot be used until accrued and must be available in the employee's Annual Leave bank before it can be used. Hours accrued in a pay period cannot be used in the same pay period.

Section 4. Accrual Rates: Annual Leave Time shall be accrued on the following basis for regular full-time employees and prorated based on normal hours worked per pay period for regular part-time employees. Employees who work a partial pay period will accrue Annual Leave Time on a pro-rata basis for the number of hours worked during the pay period.

Full time employees will earn Annual Leave Time according to the following schedule:

Years	Hours\	Hours\	Days\	
of service	Pay Period	Year	Year	
0-1	4.33 104		13	
2-4	5	120	15	
5-9	6	144	18	
10-14	7.33	176	22	
15-19	8.33	200	25	
20+	9.33	224	28	

Section 5. Use of Annual Leave.

- A. Employees working full-time must use forty (40) hours of Annual Leave Time in the second (2nd) through seventh (7th) year for "rest and relaxation". Beginning in the eighth (8th) year of employment, employees must use eighty (80) hours of Annual Leave Time for "rest and relaxation". Part-time employees must use a pro rata amount of Annual Leave Time for "rest and relaxation" on tenure listed above. This time must be used within the calendar year. Any exceptions to this provision must be approved by the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Executive Officer.
- B. Employees must request Annual Leave Time as far in advance as possible. Every reasonable effort will be made to accommodate leave requests provided leave does not interfere with workload requirements and schedules. Annual Leave Time will be charged

to the nearest one quarter (1/4) hour.

- C. Annual Leave Time may be accrued up to a maximum of five hundred and twenty (520) hours. When an employee's Annual Leave hours exceed five hundred and twenty (520), they must either use hours or be paid for hours in excess of five hundred and twenty (520) at the next scheduled time for cash-out of Annual Leave.
- D. Annual Leave Time can be cashed out at the employee's straight-time hourly wage rate. Employees who have successfully completed their probationary period can cash -out earned, but unused, Annual Leave at the time of termination/separation. While employed, an employee may elect to cash-out accrued but unused Annual Leave in excess of two hundred (200) hours at a designated time during each Calendar year.

ARTICLE 18. SICK LEAVE

Section 1. Full time employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of 4.33 hours per pay period and prorated based on normal hours worked per week for part-time employees. Sick leave may be accumulated up to the maximum of 1040 hours. All sick leave must be accrued prior to taking it. Newly hired employees may use their accrued Sick Leave after completing ninety (90) days of probation. In the event that the employee is sick and has no sick leave available, they can take Sick Leave unpaid or access Annual Leave time.

Section 2. Sick Leave will be charged to the nearest one quarter (1/4) hour.

Section 3. An employee who is unable to report to work as scheduled because of illness, injury accident, or due to state or federal family and medical reasons, or due to any other reason protected under applicable law; shall notify the employee's immediate supervisor or designee prior to the start of their workday. If advanced notification is not able to be provided, then notice shall be given as soon as practicable.

Section 4. Employees may use Sick Leave to care for themselves or a family member for reasons of illness, injury, accident, medical or dental appointments or in accordance with State and Federal Family Leave Acts and State Sick and State Leave laws.

Section 5. Sick Leave shall not be accrued during a leave of absence without pay.

Section 6. When an employee has Sick Leave over 200 hours, they can convert up to 40 hours per calendar year to Annual Leave Time.

ARTICLE 19. HOLIDAYS

Section 1. All regular employees are eligible for holiday pay. Regular part-time employees are compensated on a pro-rata basis for the average number of hours worked. To receive holiday pay, an employee must work either the normal working day before or after the holiday or be on paid leave.

Section 2. All eligible employees enjoy the following legal holidays with pay:

New Year's Day (January 1st)
Martin Luther King Jr's Birthday (3rd Monday in January)
Washington's Birthday (3rd Monday in February)
Memorial Day (last Monday in May)
Juneteenth (June 19th)
Independence Day (July 4th)
Labor Day (1st Monday in September)
Indigenous Peoples Day (2nd Monday in October)
Veterans Day (November 11th)
Thanksgiving Day (4th Thursday in November)
Friday After Thanksgiving
Christmas Day (December 25th)

Section 3. Any regular holiday that falls on Saturday will be observed on the preceding Friday. Any regular holiday that falls on Sunday will be observed the following Monday.

Section 4. Any employee who is required to work on a holiday as listed in Section 2 to this agreement shall be paid double (2 times) their base rate in addition to pay for the holiday.

ARTICLE 20. OTHER LEAVES

Section 1. Medical Leave: Medical leaves of absence will be granted in accordance with applicable federal and state law. Duration of leave, service and benefits continuation, and return to work provisions will be dependent on applicable law governing the leave. Medical leave will be paid as long as the employee has Sick Leave available. After an employee has exhausted their Sick Leave; medical leave will be unpaid. A leave of absence resulting from an industrial injury will be paid through Worker's Compensation benefits, if approved, and any accrued Sick Leave, as long as total compensation does not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of regular base salary.

Section 2. Military Leave: Leave for military service will be granted in accordance with federal and state law. Compensation and reinstatement upon return from military service will also be determined by applicable federal and state law. Employees are required to provide their supervisor with copies of military orders as soon as possible after they are received.

Section 3. Jury Duty: Upon receipt of a jury summons, an employee is to notify their Supervisor of the dates they are required to report as a juror. The employee will be excused from work responsibilities during the period that attendance is required in order to fulfill their jury duty responsibilities. The employee's pay will be continued, but the jury fee (except for mileage or other court reimbursement of expenses) shall be refunded to the Employer. In order to receive the benefits under this provision, an employee is required to call their supervisor or the Supervisor's designee to determine if the employee should return to work on that day if the employee's jury duty responsibilities are completed prior to the end of the workday.

Section 4. Personal Leave: Regular full-time and part-time employees may request, in writing, an unpaid personal leave of absence for up to forty-five (45) days to attend extended training (including Union training), for family emergencies, and for other personal reasons. Extensions to personal leave of absence may be requested, up to an additional forty-five (45) days. Unpaid personal leaves will be granted at the Employer's discretion. Except in special circumstances, unpaid personal leaves will not be granted to employees who have not completed their probationary period. Unpaid personal leaves will not be granted until all accrued unused Annual Leave has been exhausted.

Section 5. An employee returning to work following a leave of absence will be reinstated in accordance with applicable federal and state laws governing the leave. If the leave is not governed by law, the employee will be reinstated to the position held at the time of leave, or if that position is filled, to a position of like status and pay.

Section 6. Bereavement Leave: VHA recognizes that employees may require time away from work upon the death of an immediate family member. This policy is intended to allow employees to attend the funeral, services, ceremonies, and/or interment; to grieve the death of an immediate family member; travel, if necessary; or attend to other associated activities such as making funeral arrangements.

- A. Employees shall be granted up to thirty-two (32) hours of paid bereavement leave for the death of an immediate family member. This time is pro-rated for regular hours worked less than forty (40) per week. Bereavement Leave days do not need to be consecutive but are normally used within two (2) weeks of the date of death. Exceptions to the two (2) weeks use provision will be considered on a case-by-case basis and require approval from the Administrative Services Department, Compensation and Benefits Division.
- B. An immediate family member includes spouse or domestic partner; child (biological, adopted, foster, custodial, non-custodial, stepchild, or in-loco-parentis relationship to self, spouse, or domestic partner), grandchild; parent, stepparent, foster-parent; sibling, child of sibling; grandparent, child of grandparent; or a member of the employee's immediate family; or miscarriage. Policy extends to similar members of the spouse or domestic partner's family.
- C. The employee shall notify their immediate supervisor/manager as soon as possible of bereavement leave dates and shall, if requested by the VHA Human Resources department; provide substantiation to support the request.
- D. An employee who wishes to take more time off to grieve an immediate or extended family member may request the use of any accrued leave.

Section 7. Compassionate Leave: In the event of the death of a current employee or non-immediate family loved one; an employee may be granted reasonable time off, up to four (4) hours of paid leave for the purpose of attending the funeral or ceremony.

A. The number of employees who are granted this leave to attend the funeral services, or ceremony for co-worker shall be at the discretion of the department director, consistent with operational needs.

ARTICLE 21. EMPLOYEE INSURANCE

Section 1. Insurance eligibility and coverage limits shall be in accordance with current negotiated benefit contracts.

Section 2. The Employer agrees to maintain the premium to provide each eligible employee with a life insurance policy.

Section 3. The Employer "piggy backs" on the City of Vancouver's medical, dental and vision insurance policies. The Employer has the right to select insurance carriers other than those provided by the City of Vancouver provided that at least two (2) medical plans will be offered and that the aggregate schedule of benefits will not be substantially changed.

Section 4. Effective 1/1/2025 and for the duration of the contract for eligible employees, the Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of medical and vision insurance premiums for employees and eighty-five percent (85%) of dependent premium charges. Employees will pay fifteen percent (15%) of dependent medical premium expenses. These costs will be established annually in conjunction with annual medical and vision plan contract renewals and associated premium adjustments.

Employees who elect to Opt-Out of medical coverage who work thirty (30) or more hours per week will receive four hundred and twenty dollars (\$420.00) per month in lieu of medical benefits. Employees who work twenty (20) to twenty-nine (29) hours per week will receive two hundred and ten dollars (\$210.00) per month in lieu of medical coverage. Employees will be required to be enrolled in another group coverage and provide proof of coverage at the time of hire and annually during open enrollment.

Employees who elect Opt-Out of dental coverage who work thirty (30) or more hours per week will receive twenty dollars (\$20.00) per month in lieu of dental benefits. Employees who work twenty (20) to twenty-nine (29) hours per week will receive ten dollars (\$10.00) per month in lieu of dental coverage. Employees will be required to provide proof of other dental converge at the time of hire and annually during open enrollment.

Section 5. The Employer agrees to pay one hundred (100%) of the premium cost for employee and dependent dental insurance for eligible employees and their dependents through Washington Dental Service or Kaiser basic plans, or their successors. Additional dental premium expenses necessary to "buy up" to the enriched dental plan are the responsibility of the employee.

Section 6. The Employer agrees to pay for the cost of long-term disability insurance for each eligible employee.

Section 7. For part-time employees, the Employer will pay a portion of the Employer cost of medical, dental and vision insurance as described in the following table:

Scheduled weekly hours	ercentage paid by Employer Percentage paid by employee	
30 to 40	100	0
20 to 29	75	25

Section 8. The Employer "piggy backs" on the City of Vancouver short term disability policy. Employees hired after 4/1/09 are eligible for short term disability paid for by the Employer.

ARTICLE 22. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Section 1. Labor Management Committee (LMC). The LMC discusses issues of mutual interest and to collaborate on resolving differences.

- A. The Committee will be made up of equal members from the Employer and from the Union. The LMC shall include the Union Representative or Union Steward, one (1) bargaining unit member for the Union and the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Operating Officer or one (1) member of the executive team for the Employer; not to exceed two (2) committee members from each side.
- B. The Committee shall meet quarterly, or as needed, to promote open communication and discuss Union/Management concerns; unless neither side has agenda items to discuss.
- C. Topics for the agenda will be shared at least one (1) week before the meeting. Issues not covered by the contract, clarifications of contract issues, various surveys and committed work related to mandatory bargaining subjects, and VHA policies shall be regular agenda items for the Committee.
- D. The Committee shall not have the authority to engage in collective bargaining or to resolve grievance. Such items shall be forwarded to the Union Representative and the Chief Administrative Officer and shall be addressed appropriately between parties.
- E. Other Employer and/or bargaining unit staff may participate to provide advice and/or perspective, but they will not be voting members of the Committee.

ARTICLE 23. RETIREMENT PLAN

All eligible employees of the Employer shall participate in the Washington Public Employees' Retirement System.

ARTICLE 24. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Employees are encouraged to meet with their immediate supervisor to solve any questions, misunderstandings, or complaints, which may arise from time to time. Any dispute between an employee and the Employer concerning the interpretation and applications of this Agreement shall be resolved as follows.

- A. Informal Settlement of Complaint. An employee shall discuss any complaint with their immediate supervisor, if applicable, as soon as possible after the occurrence, or circumstances giving rise to the complaint to attempt to resolve the issues at the lowest level possible. The employee's immediate supervisor, if applicable, shall respond to such complaints within five (5) working days. An employee shall have the right to Union representation upon request. During the informal process either party may give notice to the Union that the informal process has ended, in which case the Union shall have such time as specified in step 1 to submit the grievance in writing.
- B. Grievance Defined. "Grievance" as used for the purposes of this Article is limited to matters that involve an allegation by an employee that the Employer has violated a specific provision of this Agreement which has not otherwise been excluded from the grievance procedure.

C. Steps

Step 1. A grievance shall be in writing and presented by the Steward or the Union Representative, to the People and Culture division of the Administrative Services department within fifteen (15) working days from the date of the occurrence of the events or actions giving rise to the grievance. Grievances not submitted in writing shall no longer be considered in dispute.

The written grievance shall include:

- (1) The name of the employee or on whose behalf the grievance is brought forward by.
- (2) The date of the circumstances given rise to such grievance and the date of the employee's first knowledge thereof, if later.
- (3) A summary clearly defining the violation that led to the filing of the grievance.
- (4) The specific provision or provisions of this Agreement that have been violated.
- (5) The remedy or resolution sought by the employee and the Union.
- (6) The signature of the person submitting the grievance on behalf of the employee and such person's name if other than the aggrieved employee.

Thereafter, the department head, Administrative Services department representative, Steward, Union Representative, and/or employee will attempt to settle the grievance by communicating within fifteen (15) working days of the delivery of the written grievance to the Employers' Administrative Services department office (the Step 1 meeting). The People and Culture division shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) working days of the Step 1 meeting. If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the grievance may proceed to Step 2.

Step 2. Grievances not settled at Step 1 shall be submitted by the Steward or Union representative and/or employee to the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO), or designee, within ten (10) working days from the date the People and Culture division has submitted in writing the Step 1 response. Grievances not so referred shall no longer be considered in dispute. The Chief Administrative Officer, or designee, shall immediately investigate the grievance and shall respond in writing within ten (10) working days.

Step 3. If the grievance is not resolved pursuant to Step 2, the Union representative, Steward, and/or employee and the Chief Executive Officer, or designee, shall meet within ten (10) working days from the date of the CAO's Step 2 written response. Grievances not so referred shall no longer be considered in dispute. The Chief Executive Officer shall respond in writing within twenty (20) working days. If the grievance is not resolved at this Step, the grievance may be submitted to binding arbitration.

The above time frames can be modified by mutual agreement of the Union and the VHA.

Employees shall have the right to present grievances individually or as a group through their designated representatives. In so doing, employees shall be assured of freedom from restraint and interference.

D. Binding Arbitration. Any grievance not settled, withdrawn, or otherwise resolved by the grievance settlement procedure may be submitted to arbitration. A demand for arbitration shall be served in writing within sixty (60) calendar days of the occurrence or circumstances giving rise to the grievance, signed by both the affected employee(s) and the Union.

The parties may select the arbitrator by agreement. If they are unable to do so within ten (10) working days after submission of the demand for arbitration, the parties shall jointly request the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC) or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) to submit a panel of seven persons from which the parties shall select an arbitrator by the process of elimination, each party, in turn, striking a name from the panel until one remains. The right to strike the first name from the panel shall be determined by the lot. The parties shall request the agency to appoint as the arbitrator the person whose name remains. The parties shall share equally the arbitrator's fee. All other costs, including legal fees, shall be borne by the party incurring them.

Untimely Action. Failure to file a grievance, process the grievance as set forth in this section, or demand arbitration within the time limits prescribed by this Article shall constitute a waiver of the grievance and the right to arbitration.

ARTICLE 25. EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE AND TERMINATION

Section 1. The Employer may discipline or discharge any newly hired employee at any time during the probation period, with or without cause, and such discipline shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 2. The Employer has the right to discipline any employee for cause. Disciplinary measures may include any of the following: verbal warning, written warning, probation, suspension with or without pay, demotion or reassignment, or discharge.

Section 3. Employees will be advised of their right to Union representation during any investigatory interview or meeting which could reasonably be expected to lead to disciplinary action.

Section 4. No employee will be discharged or suspended without pay without cause. Before discharging an employee, the Employer will first give the employee prior written notice that the employee's job performance is unsatisfactory and that their job is in jeopardy.

Section 5. The Employer is not required to, but may if it wishes, give prior notice for any of the following: Possession, use and/or distribution of illegal drugs, or being under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol on the Employer's premises or during work hours, on or off the premises; insubordination or disobedience; gross negligence; dishonesty (e.g. lying or falsification of records); theft of time (e.g. falsification of time records) or property (e.g. anything not belonging to the employee); deliberate or grossly negligent destruction of or damage to the property of the Employer, its clients, or other employees; fighting or threatening or attempting bodily injury to anyone while on the premises or during work hours, on or off premises; bringing firearms onto the premises or having them in possession during work hours, on or off the premises; sexual or racial harassment or any kind of abusive language or treatment of other employees or of clients; any gross or willful violation of the Employer's policies.

Section 6. In the case of suspension without pay or discharge, the employee will be provided with a written statement setting forth the reason(s) for such action and the employee is entitled to respond to the reasons and form of discipline.

Section 7. If an employee is suspended prior to or during an investigation, the employee's pay status will depend on the outcome of the investigation and/or disciplinary action. If the investigation substantiates the disciplinary action, the suspension will be without pay. If the investigation does not substantiate the disciplinary action, the suspension will be with pay.

Section 8. The Union shall be supplied copies of written warnings and disciplinary letters.

Section 9. Written warnings and disciplinary letters will be removed from the employee's personnel file one (1) year after meeting the requirements set forth in the warning or letter.

Thereafter, such information will only be used to indicate trends in behavior or performance.

ARTICLE 26. NON-DISCRIMINATION

Neither the Union nor the Employer in performing their obligations under this Agreement shall discriminate, be arbitrary or capricious in matters of hiring, promotion, transfer, layoff, discharge or otherwise.

ARTICLE 27. EMPLOYER'S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

All other rules and regulations of employment are covered by the Employer's Employee Handbook. In the event of conflict between the Agreement and the Employer's Employee Handbook, the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall prevail.

ARTICLE 28. CONTRACTING OUT AND USE OF ALTERNATIVE WORKERS

Section 1. The Employer may, at its sole discretion, contract out work provided that such activity does not result in the layoff or reduction in grade of any bargaining unit employee that is working for the Employer as of the date of ratification of the 2022 Agreement. Employees hired after that date may be laid off or reduced in grade as a result of subcontracting, so long as the Employer utilizes the following process:

In the event the sub-contract will result in a layoff or reduction in grade, the Employer will provide the Union with sixty (60) days advance notice in order to discuss alternatives. The

Employer may thereafter; proceed with the contracting if it is based on operational need and/or economic efficiency. Upon request, the Employer will bargain the effects of the sub-contract with the Union.

Section 2. The Employer may, in its sole discretion, make use of various alternative workers for training, rehabilitative, societal or other purposes including residents, volunteers, offenders, youth programs, interns, senior citizens, and the disabled, provided such activity does not result in the layoff of bargaining unit employees.

ARTICLE 29. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be illegal or in violation of any Federal or State law or regulation, whether by judicial or administrative determination, that portion of the contract shall be deemed excised from this Agreement and all other portions, unless dependent upon the excised portion of the contract shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 30. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

During the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each party had the opportunity to freely make proposals and discuss issues deemed important to the collective bargaining agreement. This Agreement supersedes and cancels all previous written or verbal agreements between the parties and supersedes any practices or policies of the Employer that may be different than the specific

provision of the Agreement. During the life of this Agreement, neither party is obligated to bargain over any matter other than the application of the express provisions of this Agreement except that, upon mutual agreement of both parties, an amendment or supplemental agreement may be entered into provided it is executed in writing and signed by both parties.

ARTICLE 31. DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective January 1. 2025, and shall remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2027, and shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter unless either party gives notice in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to any expiration or modification date of its desire to terminate or modify such Agreement. If no such notice is given, the Agreement shall, in any event, remain in effect until a new Agreement is signed.

Agreed to this 19th day in December 2024

VANCOUVER HOUSING AUTHORITY	OFFICE & PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 11
	Howard Bell
Andy Silver, Chief Executive Officer	Howard Bell, Executive Officer/ Secretary-
Joan Caley, Chair of the Board	Cheyenne Russell, OPEIU Union Representative
Matash Stet	Brevere a.
Natasha States Chief Administrative Officer	Brooke Ericksen, OPEIU Local 11 Union Steward
Bunk Moren, Chief Operating Officer	Aleasha Ammons, OPEIU Local 11 Union
Member	

Schedule "A"

Effective January 1, 2025, Employees wage calculations will convert from non-exempt salary to hourly. Employees who are below the minimum salary rate after receiving the market adjustment will be moved to the minimum.

Effective 1/1/2025 through 12/31/27

POSITION	GRADE	Minimum	Maximum
Voucher Compliance & Reporting Specialist	7	\$27.29	\$38.20
Inspector			
Eligibility Specialist 3			
Eligibility Specialist 2	6	\$25.99	\$36.38
Service Coordinator 2			
Payroll/Benefits Specialist			
Eligibility Specialist 1	5	\$24.75	\$34.65
FSS Case Manager	4	\$23.57	\$33.00
Service Coordinator 1			
Pathways Specialist			
Accounting Tech			
Property Assistant	3	\$22.45	\$31.43
Administrative Assistant			
Procurement Coordinator			
Voucher Specialist	2	\$21.38	\$29.93
Customer Service Rep			
Leasing Assistant			
No position	1	\$20.36	\$28.50